Pension Fund Committee
Date
Time
Venue

Monday 11 October 2021
10.00 am
Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A

Items which are open to the Public and Press

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of interest (if any)

3.

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 July 2021 (Pages
23 - 28)

4.

Overall Value of Pension Fund Investments to 30 June
2021 (Pages 29 - 34)

5.

Performance Measurement of Pension Fund Investments
to 30 June 2021 (Pages 35 - 44)

6.

Internal Audit Plan 2021/2022 - Progress Report to 30 June
2021 (Pages 45 - 50)

7.

Regulatory and Administration Update (Pages 51 - 60)

8.

Feedback from Local Pension Board

9.

Verbal Update - Annual Report and Accounts

10.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of
the Meeting is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

11.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during
the discussion of items containing exempt information

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open
to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential
information)
12.

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 July 2021 (Pages
61 - 68)

13.

Investment Strategy Review Update (Pages 69 - 74)

14.

Report of the Pension Fund Adviser (Pages 75 - 110)

15.

Report of the Independent Adviser (Pages 111 - 136)

16.

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Quarterly Investment
Report (Pages 137 - 166)

17.

Report of Alliance Bernstein (Pages 167 - 184)

18.

Report of BlackRock (Pages 185 - 200)

19.

Report of Mondrian Investment Partners (Pages 201 - 206)

20.

Report of CBRE Global Investment Partners (Pages 207 220)

21.

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Private Monitor
Report (Pages 221 - 266)

22.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of
the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant
consideration
Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
1 October 2021

To:

The Members of the Pension Fund Committee

County Council Members:
Councillors B Kellett, M Abley, J Atkinson, K Earley, C Fletcher,
C Martin, J Shuttleworth, M Stead, D Sutton-Lloyd and C Varty
Darlington Borough Council Members
Councillors S Durham and M Renton

Scheme Member Representatives
A Delandre and J Taylor

Further Education Colleges Representative
A Broadbent
Scheduled Bodies Representative
(vacant)
Admitted Bodies Representative
(vacant)
Advisers:
County Council Officers
J Hewitt – Chief Executive
P Darby – Interim Corporate Director of Resources
H Lynch – Head of Legal and Democratic Services
P Cooper – Pensions Manager
B White – Finance Manager
Independent Advisers
S Dickson - Mercer
A Fletcher – MJ Hudson Allenbridge
Investment Managers
Alliance Bernstein
BlackRock
CBRE
Mondrian
BCPP

Observers
N Hancock – UNISON and Local Pension Board
L Timbey - GMB
Councillor A Hopgood, and L Oliver – Local Pension Board

Contact: Jill Errington

Tel: 03000 269703

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex

Pension Fund Committee

Abbreviations

List of commonly used abbreviations

AB

Alliance Bernstein, the Fund’s Bonds manager

ACS

Authorised Contractual Scheme, the collective
investment scheme used by BCPP for asset pooling

AUM

Assets Under Management

BCPP

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership, the Fund’s
asset pool

CBRE

Coldwell Banker Richard Ellis, the Fund’s Real
Estate manager

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

CIO

Chief Investment Officer

CIPFA

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy

CLG

Communities and Local Government (former name of
MHCLG)

COO

Chief Operating Officer

COP

Conference of Parties, a UN conference on climate
change

CPI

Consumer Price Index

CSR

Corporate Social Responsibility, a term under which
companies report their social, environmental and
ethical performance

DAA

Dynamic Asset Allocation

DGF

Diversified Growth Fund

Page 5

EM

Emerging Markets

EMEA

Europe, Middle East & Africa

ESG

Environmental, Social, and Governance – factors in
assessing an investment’s sustainability

FCA

Financial Conduct Authority

FRC

Financial Reporting Council

FSS

Funding Strategy Statement

FTA

FTSE Actuaries UK Gilts Index Series

FTSE

Financial Times Stock Exchange

GEM

Global Emerging Markets

GRESB

Global ESG Benchmark for Real Assets

HMT

Her Majesty’s Treasury

Infra

Infrastructure

IRR

Internal Rate of Return

ISS

Investment Strategy Statement

JC

Joint Committee

LGA

Local Government Association

LGPS

Local Government Pension Scheme

LAPFF

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

LIBOR

London Inter Bank Offered Rate, a benchmark
interest rate at which global banks lend to one
another

LPB

Local Pension Board

MAC

Multi Asset Credit

MHCLG

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government

MSCI

formerly Morgan Stanley Capital International,
publisher of global indexes

Page 6

NED

Non-Executive Director

NT

Northern Trust, the Fund’s Custodian

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development

PF

Pension Fund

PFC

Pension Fund Committee

PLSA

Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association

PRI

The UN-supported Principles for RI

RI

Responsible Investment

RPI

Retail Price Index

S&P

Standard & Poor’s, ratings agency and provider of
equity indices

S151

An officer with responsibilities under s151 of the
Local Government Act 1972

SAB

Scheme Advisory Board

SDG

the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals

SILB

Sterling Index Linked Bonds

SONIA

Sterling Over Night Index Average, the overnight
interest rate paid by banks

TCFD

Taskforce on Climate Related Financial Disclosures

TER

Total Expense Ratio

TPR

The Pensions Regulator

Author(s)
Paul Cooper

Tel: 03000 269798

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Pension Fund Committee

Glossary

Glossary of commonly used terms

A

Active Management
Appointing investment professionals to track the performance of the Fund’s
mandates, making buy, hold and sell decisions about the assets with a view
to outperforming the market.

Active Member
A current employee who is contributing to the pension scheme.

Actuary
An independent professional who advises the Council in its capacity as
Administering Authority on the financial position of the Fund.

Actuarial Valuation
The Fund’s actuary carries out a valuation every three years and
recommends an appropriate rate of contributions for each of the Fund’s
participating employers for the following three years. The valuation
measures the Fund’s assets and liabilities, with contribution rates set
according to the Fund’s deficit or surplus.

Page 9

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs)
An option available to active members to build up a pot of money which is
then used to provide additional pension benefits. The money is invested
separately with one of the Fund’s external AVC providers.

Administering Authority
The LGPS is run by local Administering Authorities. An Administering
Authority is responsible for maintaining and investing its own Fund for the
LGPS.

Admission/Admitted Body
An organisation whose employees can become members of the Fund by
virtue of an admission agreement made between the council in its capacity
as Administering Authority and the organisation. It enables contractors who
take on council services to offer staff transferred to the organisation
continued membership of the LGPS.

Asset Allocation
The apportionment of the Fund’s assets between different types of
investment (or asset classes). The long-term strategic asset allocation of
the Fund will reflect the Fund’s investment objectives and is set out in the
Investment Strategy Statement.

Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS)
A collective investment scheme used by BCPP. An ACS is a form of
investment fund that enables a number of investors to ‘pool’ their assets
and invest in a professionally managed portfolio of investments, typically
gilts, bonds, and quoted equities. Regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority, it is “tax transparent”; making it particularly useful for pooling
pension assets.

Page 10

B

Benchmark
A measure against which the investment policy or performance of an
investment manager can be compared.

Border to Coast Pension Partnership (BCPP)
The Fund’s chosen asset pool. BCPP has 11 Partner Funds who
collectively have around £45bn of assets. The Partner Funds have
appointed a Board of Directors, chaired by Chris Hitchen, which is
responsible for ensuring that Border to Coast is run effectively and in line
with the guiding principles set by the shareholders. The Chief Executive
Officer, Rachel Elwell, is responsible for the day to day running of Border to
Coast along with her team.

Border to Coast Joint Committee
As part of their oversight, BCPP Partner Funds formed a Joint Committee
which consists of the Chairs of each of the Partner Fund Pension
Committees together with other non-voting representatives.

C

CARE (Career Average Revalued Earnings)
From 1 April, 2014, the LGPS changed from a final salary scheme to a
Career Average (CARE) scheme. The LGPS remains a defined benefit
scheme but benefits built up from 2014 are now worked out using a
member’s pay each scheme year rather than the final salary at leaving.

Cash Equivalent Value (CEV)
This is the cash value of a member’s pensions rights for the purposes of
divorce or dissolution of a civil partnership.

Page 11

Consumer Price Index (CPI)
A method of measuring the changes in the cost of living, similar to the
Retail Price Index. Since April 2011 LGPS pensions are increased annually
in line with movement in the Consumer Price Index during the 12 months to
the previous September.

Commutation
A scheme member may give up part or all of the pension payable from
retirement in exchange for an immediate lump sum.

Convertible Shares
Shares that include an option for holders to convert into a predetermined
number of ordinary shares, usually after a set date.

Custodian
A financial institution that holds customers’ securities for safekeeping to
minimise the risk of theft or loss. Most custodians also offer account
administration, transaction settlements, collection of dividends and interest
payments, tax support and foreign exchange. Custody is currently provided
to the Fund by Northern Trust.

D

Death Grant
A lump sum paid by the Fund to the dependents or nominated
representatives of a member who dies.

Deferred Member/Pensioner
A scheme member who has left employment or otherwise ceased to be an
active member of the scheme who retains an entitlement to a pension from
the Fund.

Page 12

Defined Benefit Scheme
A pension scheme like the LGPS where the benefits that will ultimately be
paid to the employee are fixed in advance and not impacted by investment
returns. It is the responsibility of the sponsoring organisation to ensure that
sufficient assets are set aside to meet the future pension promise.

Denomination
The face value of a bank note, coin or postage stamp, as well as bonds and
other fixed-income investments. Denomination can also be the base
currency in a transaction or the currency a financial asset is quoted in.

Designating Body
Organisations that can designate employees for access to the LGPS.
Employees of town and parish councils, voluntary schools, foundation
schools, foundation special schools, among others, can be designated for
membership of the scheme.

Discretion
The power given by the LGPS to enable a participating employer or
Administering Authority to choose how they will apply the scheme in respect
of several its provisions. For some of these discretions it is mandatory to
pass resolutions to form a policy as to how the provision will apply. For the
remaining discretionary provisions, a policy is advised.

Direct Property
Direct investment in property is buying all or part of a physical property.
Property owners can receive rent directly from tenants and realise gains or
losses from the sale of the property.

Diversified Growth Funds (DGF)
An alternative way of investing in shares, bonds, property and other asset
classes; DGFs are funds that invest in a wide variety of asset classes in

Page 13

order to deliver a real return over the medium to long-term. The Fund’s
DGF is managed by BlackRock.

E

Employer Contribution Rates
The percentage of an employee’s salary participating employers pay as a
contribution towards that employee’s LGPS pension.

Employer Covenant
The covenant is an employer’s legal obligation and financial ability to
support their defined benefit (DB) obligation now and in the future.

Equities
Ordinary shares in UK and overseas companies traded on a stock
exchange. Shareholders have an interest in the profits of the company and
are entitled to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

ESG
ESG is the consideration of environmental, social and governance factors
alongside financial ones in the investment decision-making process. E, S,
and G are the three key factors in assessing an investment’s sustainability

F

Fiduciary Duty
Fiduciary duties exist to ensure that those who manage other people’s
money act in beneficiaries’ interests rather than their own.

Page 14

Financial Instruments
Tradable assets of any kind, which can be cash, evidence of an ownership
interest in an entity or a contractual right to receive or deliver cash or
another financial instrument.

Fixed Interest Securities
Investments, mainly in Government stocks, which guarantee a fixed rate of
interest. The securities represent loans which are repayable at a future date
that can be traded on a recognised stock exchange in the meantime.

Fund of Funds (FoF)
A fund that holds a portfolio of other investment funds.

G

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP)
The LGPS guarantees to pay a pension that is at least as high as a
member would have earned had they not been contracted out of the State
Earning Related Pension Scheme (SERPS) at any time between 6 April
1978 and 5 April 1997. This is called the guaranteed minimum pension
(GMP).
I

Index
A calculation of the average price of shares, bonds or other assets in a
specified market to provide an indication of the average performance and
general trends in the market.

Page 15

Internal Rates of Return (IRR)
The internal rate of return (IRR) is a metric used to estimate the profitability
of potential investments. Generally, the higher an IRR, the more desirable
an investment is to undertake.

L

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
The LGPS is collectively the largest public sector pension scheme in the
UK, which provides DB benefits to employees of local government
employers and other organisations that have chosen to participate.

Local Pension Board (LBP)
Since April 2015, each Administering Authority is required to establish and
operate a Local Pension Board. The Pension Board is responsible for
assisting the Administering Authority in securing compliance with the LGPS
regulations, overriding legislation and guidance from the Pensions
Regulator. The Board is made up of equal representation from employer
and scheme member representatives.

M

Myners Principles
A set of principles based on Paul Myners’ 2001 report, Institutional
Investment in the United Kingdom. The Myners’ principles for defined
benefit schemes cover:

Effective decision-making
Clear objectives
Risk liabilities
Performance assessment

Page 16

Responsible ownership
Transparency and reporting.

O

Ordinary Shares
An ordinary share represents equity ownership in a company and entitles
the owner to vote at the general meetings of that company and receive
dividends on those shares if a dividend is payable.

P

Partner Funds
The Fund’s chosen asset pool, BCPP, has 11 Partner Funds Bedfordshire, Cumbria, Durham, East Riding, Lincolnshire, North Yorkshire,
South Yorkshire, Surrey, Teesside, Tyne & Wear, Warwickshire.

Pension Liberation Fraud
Members with deferred benefits may be approached by companies offering
to release funds early from these benefits. The Pensions Regulator has
advised pension funds to make members aware of the potential warning
signs of pension liberation fraud.

Pensions Online
The Fund’s online portal where scheme members may view their pensions
records, complete retirement calculations, and update personal details.

Pensions Regulator
The Pensions Regulator (TPR) s the UK regulator of workplace pension
schemes. TPR make sure that employers put their staff into a pension

Page 17

scheme and pay money into it. TPR also make sure that workplace pension
schemes are run properly so that people can save safely for their later
years.

Pooled Funds
Funds which manage the investments of more than one investor on a
collective basis. Each investor is allocated units which are revalued at
regular intervals. Income from these investments is normally returned to the
pooled fund and increases the value of the units.

Pooling in the LGPS
Central government requires local authorities to pool their pension assets,
to achieve four principles:
1. Cost savings through economies of scale
2. Improved governance
3. Improved approach to responsible investment
4. Improved ability to invest in infrastructure

Proxy Voting
Proxy voting allows shareholders to exercise their right to vote without
needing to attend AGMs. This can involve shareholders with voting rights
delegating their votes to others who vote on their behalf.

Q

Quantitative Easing
Quantitative easing (QE) is when a central bank creates new money
electronically to buy financial assets like Government bonds with the aim of
directly increasing private sector spending in the economy and returning
inflation to target.

Page 18

R
Related Party Transactions
This is an arrangement between two parties joined by a special relationship
before a deal, like a business transaction between a major shareholder and
a corporation.

Responsible Investment (RI)
Responsible investment involves incorporating environmental, social and
governance (ESG) considerations into investment decision-making while
practising active ownership. RI can help deliver sustainable, long-term
returns for investors.

Retail Price Index
A method of measuring the changes in the cost of living. It reflects the
movement of prices covering goods and services over time. Until April
2011, the amount by which LGPS pensions were increased annually was
based on movement in the Retail Price Index during the 12 months to the
previous September. From April 2011, the Government changed the
amount by which pensions increase from Retail Price Index to Consumer
Price Index (CPI).

Return
The total gain from holding an investment over a given period, including
income and increase or decrease in market value.

Rule of 85
Under previous LGPS regulations, when a member elected to retire before
age 65, the Rule of 85 test was used to find out whether the member retired
on full or reduced pension benefits. If the sum of the member’s age and the
number of whole years of their scheme membership was 85 or more,
benefits were paid in full. If the total was less than 85, the benefits were
reduced. The Rule of 85 was abolished on 1 October, 2006 - however,
members contributing to the LGPS prior to this date will have some or all of
their pension benefits protected under this rule.

Page 19

S

Scheduled Body
An organisation that has the right to become a member of the LGPS under
the scheme regulations. Such an organisation does not need to be admitted
as its right to membership is automatic.

Spot Rate
The price quoted for immediate settlement on a commodity, security or
currency. It is based on the value of an asset at the moment of the quote,
which in turn is based on how much buyers are willing to pay and how
much sellers are willing to accept depending on factors such as current
market value and expected future market value.

State Pension Age (SPA)
The earliest age at which State Pension can be paid, which different to the
earliest age LGPS may be claimed. Under the current law, the State
Pension age is due to increase to 68.

Stock Lending
This is loaning a stock, derivative or other security to an investor or firm. It
requires the borrower to put up collateral (cash, security or a letter of
credit). When stock is loaned, the title and the ownership is transferred to
the borrower and title is returned at the end of the loan period.

T

TCFD
The Taskforce on Climate Related Financial Disclosures was set up to
develop voluntary, consistent, climate related financial risk disclosures to
guide companies in providing information to investors, lenders, insurers and
other stakeholders. It is expected that MHCLG will consult on mandatory
TCFD disclosures in the LPGS by the end of 2021.
Page 20

The Pension Advisory Service (TPAS)
The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS) gives information and guidance to
members of the public on state, company and personal pensions. It helps
any member of the public who has a problem with their occupational or
private pension arrangement. TPAS is an executive non-departmental
public body, sponsored by the Department for Work and Pensions.

Transfer Value
A transfer value is a cash sum representing the value of a member’s
pension rights.

Transferred Service
Any pension that members have transferred into the LGPS from a previous
pension arrangement that now counts towards their LGPS membership.

U

UK Stewardship Code
A code first published by the FRC in 2010 to enhance the quality of
engagement between asset managers and companies in the UK. Its
principal aim is to make asset managers more active and engaged in
corporate governance matters in the interests of their beneficiaries. The
Code was revised in 2020.

Unrealised gains/losses
The increase or decrease in the market value of investments held by the
fund since the date of their purchase.

Author(s)
Paul Cooper

Tel: 03000 269798

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
PENSION FUND COMMITTEE
At a Meeting of Pension Fund Committee held in Council Chamber, County
Hall, Durham on Monday 26 July 2021 at 10.00 am

Present:
Councillor Mark Abley (Chair)
Members of the Committee:
Councillors M Abley (Vice-Chair), J Atkinson, K Earley, C Fletcher, C Martin,
J Shuttleworth, M Stead, D Sutton-Lloyd and C Varty

Scheme Member Representative
John Taylor

Further Education Colleges Representative
Andrew Broadbent

Council Advisers
Paul Darby – Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)
Paul Cooper – Pensions Manager
Beverley White – Finance Manager
Bryan Smith – Litigation Manager

Independent Advisers
Andy Wallis – Mercer
Anthony Fletcher – MJ Hudson

Observers
Neville Hancock – UNISON and Local Pension Board
Les Timbey - GMB

Page 23

1

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bill Kellett, Scheme
Member Representative Anne Delandre and Darlington Borough Councillor
Mike Renton.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Minutes
The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2021 were agreed as a correct
record and were signed by the Chair.

4

Overall Value of Pension Fund Investments to 31 March 2021
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(Interim) which provided an update on the overall value of the Pension Fund
investments to 31 March 2021 and the movement in cash balances during
the last four quarters (for copy see file of Minutes).
Beverley White stated that the increase in the value of the Fund in the fourth
quarter should read £0.041 billion.
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

5

Performance Measurement of Pension Fund Investments to 31
March 2021
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(Interim) which provided an overview of the investment performance of the
Pension Fund to 31 March 2021 (for copy see file of Minutes).
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report produced by the Fund’s
custodian, Northern Trust, be noted.

6

Internal Audit Progress Report to 31 March 2021
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Internal Auditor and
Corporate Fraud Manager which informed Members of the work carried out

Page 24

by Internal Audit during the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 as part of
the 2020/2021 Internal Audit Plan (for copy see file of Minutes).
Resolved:
That the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the period ending 31
March 2021 be noted.

7

Regulatory and Administration Update
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(Interim) which briefed the Committee on developments in matters that were
both Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) specific, as well as
providing an update on non-LGPS specific matters of interest (for copy see
file of Minutes).
Councillor Earley asked if the Boycotts, Divestment and Sanctions Bill would
cover investment in tobacco companies, and was advised that this would not
breach UK policy. The purpose of the legislation would be to prevent public
bodies investing in a way that was contrary to UK foreign policy, and had
been prompted by a pension fund’s refusal to invest in Israel.
Councillor Atkinson asked for more background information regarding the
Palestine Solidarity Campaign. Paul Cooper advised that this was linked to
the matter raised by Councillor Earley. The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB)
had intended to produce guidance for Responsible Investment but this had
been affected by the court case involving the Palestine Solidarity Campaign.
SAB had therefore decided to wait until more information was received in
respect of the Boycotts, Divestment and Sanctions Bill which would limit
public bodies from taking a different investment approach to UK foreign
policy.
Councillor Christine Fletcher stated that as a new member she wished to
express her thanks to the Officers and Advisers for the excellent training
members had received in this complex and changing regulatory environment.
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

8

Feedback from Local Pension Board
Paul Cooper provided feedback from the Local Pension Board meeting of 11
March 2021.
The Board considered the following:

Page 25

 Communications Review
 Internal Dispute Resolution Cases
 LGPS Administering Authority Discretions
The Board also agreed its Annual Report 2020/2021.

9

Exclusion of the Public
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the
grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

10

Minutes
The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2021 were agreed as a correct
record and were signed by the Chair.
Prior to consideration of the following item of business the Advisers were
asked to leave the meeting.

11

Pension Fund Procurement - Investment Consultancy
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(Interim) which advised the Committee on the need to procure Investment
Consultancy to support decision-making in respect of the Fund’s investment
strategy (for copy see file of Minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendation in the report be noted and agreed.
The Advisers returned to the meeting.

12

Investment Strategy Review Update
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(Interim) which provided an update on progress made towards implementing
asset allocation decisions (for copy see file of Minutes).
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

Page 26

13

Report of the Pension Fund Adviser
The Committee considered the report of the Independent Adviser, Andy
Wallis of Mercer (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

14

Report of Independent Investment Adviser
The Committee considered a report of the Independent Investment Adviser,
Anthony Fletcher of MJ Hudson (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

15

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Quarterly Investment
Report
The Committee considered the quarterly investment report of the Border to
Coast Pensions Partnership.
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

16

Report of Alliance Bernstein
Consideration was given to a report from Alliance Bernstein which included:
a) Manager’s views on the economy and investment strategy for the future;
b) Investment Policy;
c) List and valuation of investment holdings.
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

17

Report of BlackRock
Consideration was given to a report from BlackRock which included:
a) Manager’s views on the economy and investment strategy for the future;
b) Investment Policy;
c) List and valuation of investment holdings.

Page 27

Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

18

Report of Mondrian Investment Partners
Consideration was given to a report from Mondrian which included:
a) Manager’s views on the economy and investment strategy for the future;
b) Investment Policy;
c) List and valuation of investment holdings.
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

19

Report of CBRE Global Investment Partners
Consideration was given to a report from CBRE which included:
a) Manager’s views on the economy and investment strategy for the future;
b) Investment Policy;
c) List and valuation of investment holdings.
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

20

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Private Monitor Report
The Committee considered a report of Northern Trust which provided an
analysis of cash flow, portfolio funding, partnership performance and
comparative analysis at December 2020 (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

Page 28

Agenda Item 4

Pension Fund Committee
11 October 2021
Overall Value of Pension
Fund Investments to 30 June 2021

Report of Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)
Purpose of the Report
1.

To provide an update to Members on the:
(a)
(b)
(c)

overall value of the Pension Fund’s investments at 30 June 2021;
movement in the cash balance during the last four quarters; and
projected cash flow position up to 30 September 2022.

Executive Summary
2.

Appendix 1 details the working cash balance position of the Pension
Fund and actual cash flow for the last four quarters. At 30 June 2021
the value of the Fund was £3.601 billion and the cash balance held in
the Durham County Council Pension Fund bank account was £27.856
million. Fund managers also held cash of £66.591 million at that date.

3.

The cash flow forecast detailed in Appendix 2 indicates net cash
outflows in future quarters, excluding cash withdrawals from fund
managers, of between £12 million and £14 million. A recovery of £20
million from fund managers in the quarters ending 30 September 2021,
31 March 2022 and 30 September 2022 has been included in the
forecast.

Recommendation
4.

Members are asked to note the information contained within this report.

Page 29

Background
Value of the Pension Fund
5.

Reports from the five appointed fund managers, namely:
 AB
 BlackRock
 BCPP
 CB Richard Ellis
 Mondrian
are included in Part B of today’s agenda.

6.

The value of the Fund at 30 June 2021 was £3.601 billion compared to
£3.433 billion at 31 March 2021. This is an increase of £168 million (or
4.89%) in the first quarter of 2021/22.

Allocation of New Investment Money/ Withdrawal of Investment Money to
Deal with Estimated Shortfall
7.

New investment money is allocated to fund managers when the
Pension Fund has cash which is not required to be available as a
working cash balance, for example to pay pensioners or fees.

8.

When it is estimated that the Pension Fund will not have sufficient cash
available as a working cash balance, cash is withdrawn from fund
managers.

9.

Appendix 1 details the working cash balance position of the Pension Fund
and actual cash flow for the last four quarters. As at 30 June 2021, the
cash balance held in the Durham County Council Pension Fund bank
account was £27.856 million. In addition to this, not included in this table,
fund managers were holding cash of £66.591 million at 30 June 2021.

10.

During the quarter ending 30 June 2021 further drawdowns totalling
£7.356 million were made to BCPP to invest in private equity,
infrastructure and private credit.

Cash Flow Forecast
11.

Page 30

Appendix 2 shows the projected cash flow for the Pension Fund for the
period 1 July 2021 to 30 September 2022. It should be noted that this is

only in respect of cash held in the Pension Fund bank account and that
income earned from investments is currently retained by managers.
12.

The forecast includes the recovery of £20 million from Fund Managers
in the quarters ending 30 September 2021, 31 March 2022 and 30
September 2022. Without the recovery of the aforementioned amounts,
the Pension Fund is estimated to be in a cash negative position in all
quarters to 30 September 2022.

13.

The forecast indicates net cash outflows in future quarters of between
£12 million and £14 million. The size of the outflows are exacerbated
due to the early receipt of Durham County Council’s deficit contribution
in April 2020, the impact of which is an apparent reduction in future
contributions receivable of £2.476 million per quarter.

14.

The following assumptions have been used in the cash flow forecast:
(a)

Annual investment income receivable is estimated to be £26.5
million and profiled to be received as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Quarter ended 30 September 2021
Quarter ended 31 December 2021
Quarter ended 31 March 2022
Quarter ended 30 June 2022

21%
24%
26%
29%

(b)

Increases in contributions are included in line with the actuarial
valuation.

(c)

Transfer values due in are estimated at £1.25 million per quarter. It
is anticipated that transfers in will continue as the LGPS remains
relatively attractive to employees.

(d)

Pensions increase applied is the estimated pension indexation rate
of 0.7% for 2021/22 with effect from 12 April 2021.

(e)

Payroll paysheets (payments to pensioners) are forecast to
increase by £0.20 million per quarter. This figure will alter if there
are large numbers of retirements from the employing authorities. It
is anticipated however that the actual figure will not be materially
different to the forecast since the position of the County Council,
being the largest employer in the Fund, has been taken into
account.

(f)

Payable paysheets are forecast on the basis of the previous year’s
profile and adjusted for known one-off payments, although this can
be the most volatile figure as it includes payments of lump sums

Page 31

and fees to managers. This assumption errs on the side of
prudence, in that this is an average figure taken from previous
quarterly payments.
15.

Appendix 2 provides an early indication of the likely impact on the
Pension Fund’s cash flow position over the next 15 months. It is
continuously under review and is refined to take any new information
into account as it becomes available.

Fund Rebalancing
16.

Fund rebalancing is the mechanism by which the Pension Fund would
ensure that the asset allocation to fund managers is maintained at the
target levels previously agreed by the Pension Fund Committee and as
set out in the Investment Strategy Statement. It is also the means by
which cash is moved to or from managers as a consequence of the
cash flow forecasts.

17.

Due to the current suspension of fund rebalancing, there was no
rebalancing exercise this quarter.

Contact:

Page 32

Beverley White

Tel: 03000 261900

Appendix 1

Actual Cash Flow – For the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021
30.09.20

Quarter Ended

31.12.20

31.03.21

30.06.21

Estimate

Actual

Estimate

Actual

Estimate

Actual

Estimate

Actual

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

Cash Inflows
Contributions - DCC

16,900,000

15,889,112

16,500,000

16,975,404

16,500,000

16,373,095

16,500,000

16,179,251

Contributions - Other

10,480,000

11,981,629

11,600,000

12,574,269

11,600,000

13,840,399

11,600,000

12,519,409

Unfunded pensions recharges

1,050,000

720,935

1,050,000

1,105,483

1,050,000

997,505

1,050,000

1,282,189

Transfer Values

1,250,000

1,012,935

1,250,000

699,626

1,250,000

1,295,926

1,250,000

2,401,896

Other income

2,000,000

1,039,005

1,500,000

1,091,573

1,500,000

2,134,211

1,500,000

759,882

0

0

0

0

20,000,000

20,000,000

0

0

80,000

14,459

2,000

5,320

2,000

3,567

2,000

6,198

31,760,000

30,658,075

31,902,000

32,451,677

51,902,000

54,644,703

31,902,000

33,148,825

Payroll Paysheets

28,070,000

27,582,685

27,750,000

27,608,520

28,000,000

27,749,126

28,450,000

27,884,214

Payables Paysheets (incl. Managers’ fees)

12,000,000

9,197,600

11,000,000

9,263,003

11,000,000

9,155,996

11,000,000

13,108,703

0

3,046,947

3,000,000

3,343,661

3,000,000

4,971,934

3,000,000

7,355,588

1,000

1,361

1,000

1,013

1,000

914

1,000

902

Total Cash Outflows

40,071,000

39,828,593

41,751,000

40,216,198

42,001,000

41,877,970

42,451,000

48,349,407

Net Cash Inflow / (-) Outflow

-8,311,000

-9,170,518

-9,849,000

-7,764,521

9,901,000

12,766,733

-10,549,000

-15,200,583

Funds recovered from Managers
Interest on short term investments
Total Cash Inflow
Cash Outflows

Funds transferred to Managers
Other Expenditure

Balance at Bank (opening)

47,222,886

38,050,655

30,290,299

43,058,895

Balance at Bank (closing)

38,050,655

30,290,299

43,058,895

27,855,839

Page 33

Appendix 2
Page 34

Projected Cash Flow for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 September 2022
Quarter Ended

30.09.21

31.12.21

31.03.22

30.06.22

30.09.22

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

£

£

£

£

£

Cash Inflows
Contributions - DCC

16,400,000

16,400,000

16,400,000

16,400,000

16,400,000

Contributions - Other

12,500,000

12,500,000

12,500,000

12,500,000

12,500,000

Unfunded pensions recharges

1,050,000

1,050,000

1,050,000

1,050,000

1,050,000

Transfer Values

1,250,000

1,250,000

1,250,000

1,250,000

1,250,000

Other income

1,500,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

Funds recovered from Managers
Interest on short term investments

20,000,000

20,000,000

20,000,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

52,702,000

32,702,000

52,702,000

32,702,000

52,702,000

Payroll Paysheets

28,000,000

28,200,000

28,400,000

28,600,000

28,800,000

Payables Paysheets (incl. Managers’ fees)

10,000,000

10,000,000

10,000,000

10,000,000

10,000,000

7,000,000

7,000,000

7,000,000

7,000,000

7,000,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

45,001,000

45,201,000

45,401,000

45,601,000

45,801,000

7,701,000

-12,499,000

7,301,000

-12,899,000

6,901,000

Balance at Bank (opening)

27,855,839

35,556,839

23,057,839

30,358,839

17,459,839

Balance at Bank (closing)

35,556,839

23,057,839

30,358,839

17,459,839

24,360,839

5,565,000

6,360,000

6,890,000

7,685,000

5,565,000

Total Cash Inflow
Cash Outflows

Funds transferred to Managers
Other Expenditure
Total Cash Outflows
Net Cash Inflow / (-) Outflow

Investment Income Received by Managers

Agenda Item 5

Pension Fund Committee
11 October 2021
Performance Measurement of Pension
Fund Investments to 30 June 2021

Report of Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)
Purpose of the Report
1

To provide an overview of the investment performance of the Pension
Fund to 30 June 2021.

Recommendation
2

Members to note the information contained within the attached report
produced by Northern Trust, the Fund’s custodian.

Background
3

The performance of the five fund managers is measured against
personalised benchmarks chosen at the inception of the fund. The
attached report from Northern Trust shows:
(a)

The fund managers’ benchmarks;

(b)

The total fund performance for the quarter to 30 June 2021, plus
the last 1, 3, 5 and 10 years and since inception;

(c)

Individual fund managers’ performance in absolute and relative
terms against the relevant benchmarks, for the quarter to 30 June
2021, plus the last 1, 3, 5 and 10 years and since inception.

Contact:

Beverley White

Tel: 03000 261900

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Durham CC Pension Fund
Investment Risk & Analytical Services

June 30, 2021
Page 37

Page 38

Table of Contents
Section 1. Durham CC Pension Fund

3

1.1. Investment Hierarchy (Arithmetic Excess)

4

1.2. Market Value Summary - One Month

5

Section 2. Appendix

6

2.1. Disclaimer(s)

7

Durham CC Pension Fund

Appendix

Durham CC Pension Fund

SECTION

1

Durham CC Pension Fund
Investment Risk & Analytical Services

June 30, 2021
Page 39

Durham CC Pension Fund

NORTHERN TRUST

June 30, 2021

Page 40

Investment Hierarchy (Arithmetic Excess)
% Rate of Return

Account/Group
Durham CC Pension Fund

Ending
Market Value
GBP

Ending
Weight

One
Month

Three
Months

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

Ten
Years

Inception
to Date

3,601,687,538

100.00

1.38

4.71

15.80

9.31

8.75

7.97

7.52

Inception
Date
29/02/2008

2.20
-0.82

4.82
-0.11

13.19
2.61

9.60
-0.28

9.89
-1.14

9.12
-1.15

8.86
-1.33

29/02/2008
29/02/2008

Durc Total Plan Benchmark
Excess Return
Alliance Bernstein
Alliance Bernstein

582,958,617

16.19

0.21

1.03

2.75

2.64

2.20

2.91

3.38

29/02/2008

582,958,617

16.19

0.21

1.03

2.75

2.64

2.20

2.91

3.38

29/02/2008

0.26
-0.04

0.78
0.25

3.10
-0.34

3.63
-0.99

3.54
-1.34

3.60
-0.70

3.97
-0.59

29/02/2008
29/02/2008

3 Month Libor in GBP +3% pa
Excess Return
BlackRock DAA

432,442,969

12.01

0.24

2.87

13.13

6.82

6.17

-

4.71

31/12/2014

Blackrock DAA

432,442,969

12.01

0.24

2.87

13.13

6.82

6.17

-

4.71

31/12/2014

0.26
-0.02

0.78
2.10

3.10
10.04

3.63
3.19

3.54
2.63

-

3.72
0.98

31/12/2014
31/12/2014

3 Month Libor in GBP +3%
Excess Return
CBRE 1
CBRE 1

206,333,306

5.73

1.55

2.74

6.53

5.41

6.03

7.68

4.38

29/02/2008

206,333,306

5.73

1.55

2.74

6.53

5.41

6.03

7.68

4.38

29/02/2008

1.08
0.47

3.58
-0.85

8.92
-2.38

7.67
-2.26

8.04
-2.01

7.71
-0.03

7.88
-3.50

29/02/2008
29/02/2008

RPI +5%
Excess Return
CBRE 2
CBRE 2

47,099,615

1.31

4.49

11.11

24.89

8.23

5.80

7.65

6.55

29/02/2008

47,099,615

1.31

4.49

11.11

24.89

8.23

5.80

7.65

6.55

29/02/2008

1.08
3.41

3.58
7.53

8.92
15.97

7.67
0.56

8.04
-2.24

7.71
-0.05

7.88
-1.33

29/02/2008
29/02/2008

RPI +5%
Excess Return
Mondrian
Mondrian

270,249,165

7.50

1.22

3.40

26.10

10.41

9.78

-

7.27

31/10/2014

270,249,165

7.50

1.22

3.40

26.10

10.41

9.78

-

7.27

31/10/2014

3.28
-2.06

5.57
-2.16

29.03
-2.93

12.57
-2.16

15.38
-5.60

-

12.50
-5.23

31/10/2014
31/10/2014

MSCI Emerging Markets GD +2.5%
Excess Return
BCPP
BCPP Global Equity Alpha Fund

2,034,118,253

56.48

1.93

6.54

23.51

-

-

-

13.21

30/09/2019

1,553,457,478

43.13

2.73

7.09

30.78

-

-

-

17.68

24/10/2019

4.38
-1.65

7.70
-0.61

26.67
4.11

-

-

-

18.92
-1.23

24/10/2019
24/10/2019

-0.54

4.78

-

-

-

-

0.59

08/10/2020

-0.54
-0.01

4.71
0.07

-

-

-

-

0.16
0.42

08/10/2020
08/10/2020

MSCI ACWI ND + 2% pa
Excess Return
BCPP Sterling Index Linked Bd

480,660,775

13.35

FTSE Index Linked 15+Yrs+0.02%
Excess Return
BCPP Private Market
BCPP Private Markets

4 of 7 | Investment Risk & Analytical Services

28,485,613

0.79

-0.60

-0.98

-

-

-

-

-9.88

30/11/2020

28,485,613

0.79

-0.60

-0.98

-

-

-

-

-9.88

30/11/2020

Category: Total Fund Gross of Fees

NORTHERN TRUST

Durham CC Pension Fund

June 30, 2021

Market Value Summary - One Month
Account/Group
Durham CC Pension Fund

31/05/2021
Market Value

Net Contribution*

Income

Fees

Appreciation

30/06/2021
Market Value

3,549,275,742

3,272,188

1,350,802

0

47,788,806

3,601,687,538

Alliance Bernstein

581,718,280

0

0

0

1,240,337

582,958,617

Alliance Bernstein

581,718,280

0

0

0

1,240,337

582,958,617

BlackRock DAA

431,405,714

0

161,449

0

875,805

432,442,969

Blackrock DAA

431,405,714

0

161,449

0

875,805

432,442,969

CBRE 1

203,185,015

0

407,732

0

2,740,560

206,333,306

CBRE 1

203,185,015

0

407,732

0

2,740,560

206,333,306

CBRE 2

45,077,044

0

159,826

0

1,862,745

47,099,615

CBRE 2

45,077,044

0

159,826

0

1,862,745

47,099,615

Mondrian

267,002,350

0

616,418

0

2,630,397

270,249,165

267,002,350

0

616,418

0

2,630,397

270,249,165

BCPP

Mondrian

1,995,510,867

0

0

0

38,607,386

2,034,118,253

BCPP Global Equity Alpha Fund

1,512,221,703

0

0

0

41,235,775

1,553,457,478

483,289,165

0

0

0

-2,628,390

480,660,775

BCPP Private Market

25,376,471

3,272,188

5,377

0

-168,424

28,485,613

BCPP Private Markets

25,376,471

3,272,188

5,377

0

-168,424

28,485,613

BCPP Sterling Index Linked Bd

*Net Contributions include Cash Contributions/Distributions, Security Deliveries/Receipts, Fees/Fee Rebates, Inter Account transfers for Consolidations & Benefits Payments.
Copied History or Backloaded Data may not display the correct Contributions/Withdrawals creating misrepresentation.

Page 41
5 of 7 | Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Category: Total Fund Gross of Fees • Currency: GBP

Page 42
Appendix

SECTION

2

Appendix
Investment Risk & Analytical Services

June 30, 2021

NORTHERN TRUST

Durham CC Pension Fund

June 30, 2021

Disclaimer(s)
The Global Industry Classification Standard ("GICS") was developed by and is the exclusive
property and a service mark of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc.("MSCI") and Standard &
Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.("S&P") and is licensed for use by The
Northern Trust Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Neither MSCI, S&P, nor any other
party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any GICS classifications makes any express or
implied warranties or representations with respect to such standard or classification (or the results
to be obtained by the use thereof), and all such parties hereby expressly disclaim all warranties of
originality, accuracy, completeness, merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose with respect
to any of such standard or classification. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall
MSCI, S&P, any of their affiliates or any third party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any
GICS classifications have any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any
other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of such damages.
The Dow Jones Wilshire Indexes are calculated, distributed and marketed by Dow Jones &
Company, Inc. pursuant to an agreement between Dow Jones and Wilshire and have been licensed
for use. All content of the Dow Jones Wilshire Indexes © 2005 Dow Jones & Company, Inc. &
Wilshire Associates Incorporated.
Standard and Poor's including its subsidiary corporations ("S&P") is a division of the McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc. Reproduction of S&P Index Alerts in any form is prohibited except with the prior
written permission of S&P. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error by S&P
sources, S&P or others, S&P does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, completeness or
availability of any information and is not responsible for any errors or omissions or for the results
obtained from the use of such information. S&P gives not express or implied warranties, including,
but not limited to, any warranties or merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose or use. In no
event shall S&P be liable for any indirect, special or consequential damages in connection with
subscriber's or others' use of S&P Index Alerts.
All MSCI equity characteristic results except for Dividend Yield, Price to Book Value, Price to Cash
Earnings and Price Earnings Ratio were calculated by The Northern Trust Company.
FTSE ® is a trade mark of London Stock Exchange Plc and The Financial Times Limited and is
used by FTSE under license. All rights in the FTSE Indices vest in FTSE and/or its licensors.
Neither FTSE nor its licensors accept any liability for any errors or omissions in the FTSE Indices or
underlying data.
The Merrill Lynch Indices are used with permission. Copyright 2007, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated. All rights reserved. The Merrill Lynch Indices may not be copied, used, or
distributed without Merrill Lynch's prior written approval.

Page 43

The Citi Index data is provided to you on an "AS IS" basis and you agree that use of the index data
is at your sole risk. Citi Index makes no representations or warranties, express or implied, to you or
any other person or entity, including without limitation any warranty of merchantability, originality,
suitability or fitness for a particular purpose of the index data or any other matter and no warranty is
given that the index data will conform to any description thereof or be free of omissions, errors,
interruptions or defects. 4. In no event shall Citi Index be liable to you or any other person or entity
for any direct, incidental, indirect, special or consequential damages (including, without limitation,

7 of 7 | Investment Risk & Analytical Services

lost profits or revenues, loss of data, loss of use or claims of third parties), arising out of or in any
manner in connection with your use of (or inability to use) the index data, whether or not you have
been advised of, or otherwise might have anticipated the possibility of, such damages. Without
limitation on the foregoing, you acknowledge that the index data may be incomplete or condensed,
is for information purposes only and is not intended as, and shall not be construed to be, an offer or
solicitation with respect to the purchase or sale of any security. All opinions and estimates provided
constitute judgments as of their respective dates and are subject to change without notice. Such
data, information, opinions and estimates are furnished as part of a general service, without regard
to your particular circumstances, and Citi Index shall not be liable for any damages in connection
therewith. Citi Index is not undertaking to manage money or act as a fiduciary with respect to your
accounts or any of your managed or fiduciary accounts and you acknowledge and agree that the
index data does not and shall not serve as the primary basis for any investment decisions made with
respect to such accounts.
iShares® and BlackRock® are registered trademarks of BlackRock, Inc. and its affiliates
("BlackRock") and are used under license. BlackRock has licensed certain trademarks and trade
names of BlackRock to The Northern Trust Company. The Northern Trust Company's products and
services are not sponsored, endorsed, sold, or promoted by BlackRock, and BlackRock makes no
representations or warranties related to such products or services either to The Northern Trust
Company or any other person or entity, including but not limited to the advisability of investing in the
products of The Northern Trust Company. BlackRock has no obligation or liability in connection with
the operation, marketing, trading or sale of the products or services from The Northern Trust
Company.
Please note that this report has been prepared using best available data. This report may also
contain information provided by third parties, derived by third parties or derived from third party data
and/or data that may have been categorized or otherwise reported based upon client direction Northern Trust assumes no responsibility for the accuracy, timeliness or completeness of any such
information. If you have questions regarding third party data or direction as it relates to this report,
please contact your Northern Trust relationship team.
INVESTMENT ADVICE NOTICE: The data and analysis contained in this report is for informational
purposes only. In providing the information contained herein, The Northern Trust Company is not
undertaking to provide “investment advice” or to give advice in a fiduciary capacity for purposes of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. Nothing in this report is
intended as, or should be understood as, a recommendation to hire, retain, or terminate an
investment manager or engage in any purchase or sale transaction with such a manager or any
fund that it manages. The Northern Trust Company and/or its affiliates may have business
relationships with one or more investment managers or funds for included in this report, and may
receive compensation for providing custody, administration, banking, brokerage, foreign exchange
or other services to such investment managers or funds. The Northern Trust Company and its
affiliates shall have no responsibility for the consequences of investment decisions made in reliance
on information contained in this report.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Pension Fund Committee
11 October 2021
Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 - Progress
Report to 30 June 2021

Report of Stephen Carter, Interim Chief Internal Auditor and
Corporate Fraud Manager
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To inform Members of the work that has been carried out by Internal
Audit during the period 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021 as part of the
2021/22 Internal Audit Plan.

Executive Summary
2

The report provides Members with the progress that has been made in
achieving the Pension Fund Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 up to 30
June 2021 and aims to:
(a) Provide a high level of assurance, or otherwise, on internal control
systems operated in the areas that have been subject to audit;
(b) Advise on any significant issues where controls need to improve in
order to effectively manage risks;
(c) Advising of any other types of audit work carried out, such as
consultancy reviews where an assurance opinion on the control
environment may not be applicable;
(d) Advise of any unplanned work carried out or due to be carried out
and any changes to the audit process.

Recommendation
3

Members are asked to note the work undertaken by Internal Audit
during the period ending 30 June 2021.

Page 45

Background
4

As an independent consultancy service, the Internal Audit Team strives
to continue to add value and improve the organisation’s operations as
well as providing objective assurance to service managers and the
Pension Fund Committee.

5

The Annual Internal Audit Plan 2021/22, covering the period 1 April
2021 to 31 March 2022, was approved by the Pension Fund Committee
on 11 March 2021.

Progress against 2021/22 planned work:
6

A summary of the approved audit plan, with the status of each audit, is
shown below:
Audit Title

Audit Type

Status

Assurance
Assurance

Draft Report
Preparation

Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance

Not yet started
Not yet started
Not yet started
Not yet started
Not yet started

Counter Fraud

In Progress

Advice/Consultancy

In Progress

Opinion

Audits brought forward from 2020/21
Additional Voluntary Contributions
Admission Bodies / Funding Risks
2021/22 audits
Pension System ICT Controls
Investments
Transfers In/Out
Debt Recovery
Compliance with Breach Policy
National Fraud Initiative – Data
matching to identify potential error/fraud
Management time and ad hoc advice &
guidance

7

Page 46

The status shows that, of the seven assurance reviews that are planned
for completion in 2021/22, no final reports were issued in the quarter.
One completed review is at draft report stage, awaiting comment from
management prior to being finalised. Two non-assurance reviews are in
progress, with all other audits scheduled to commence later in the year.

Background papers


Specific Internal Audit reports issued and working papers.

Other useful documents


Contact:

None

Paul Monaghan

Tel: 03000 269662

Page 47

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Accounts and Audit Regulation 2015 (Part 2, Section 5) states a relevant
authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes,
taking into account public sector internal audit standards or guidance.
Furthermore, Internal Audit assists the Corporate Director of Resources in
fulfilling their duties under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972
which requires each Local Authority to make arrangements for the proper
administration of their financial affairs.

Finance
There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.
Internal Audit work has clear and direct effects, through recommendations
made, to assist in improving value for money obtained, the probity and
propriety of financial administration, and / or the management of operational
risks.

Consultation
Pensions Manager, Finance Manager and Corporate Director, Resources.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
There are no direct implications on climate change as a result of this report,
however the Internal Audit Service ensures that it considers climate change
and sustainability in the recommendations that are made.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Page 48

Accommodation
None.

Risk
The key risk is that actions agreed in audit reports to improve the control
environment and assist the Pension Fund in achieving its objectives are not
implemented. To mitigate this risk, a defined process exists within the Service
to gain assurance that all actions agreed have been implemented on a timely
basis. Such assurance is reflected in reports to the Pension Fund Committee.

Procurement
None.

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Pension Fund Committee
11 October 2021
Regulatory and Administration Update

Report of Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)

Purpose of the Report
1

This report briefs the Committee on developments in matters that are
both Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) specific, as well as
providing an update on non-LGPS specific matters which are of
interest.

Executive summary
2

There are a number of developments that will potentially impact the
requirements placed upon the Fund, both specific to the LGPS and
more generally. This report seeks to keep the Committee updated
with those developments

Recommendation(s)
3

Committee is asked to note the report.

Page 51

Background
4

This report provides an update to Committee on important pensions
administration and governance matters that are currently relevant.
The report is split into 2 main sections:
(a)

LGPS specific matters, and;

(b)

Non-LGPS specific matters that are of interest to the Committee.

LGPS Specific Matters
DLUHC Consultation – LGPS: Fair Deal – Strengthening Pension
Protection
5

In January 2019, The Department for Levelling Up Housing and
Communities (DLUHC), formerly MHCLG, launched a consultation
that would strengthen the pensions protections that apply when an
employee of an LGPS employer is compulsorily transferred to the
employment of a service provider. If the proposed amendments are
introduced, the option for staff to be granted access to a Government
Actuary’s Department (GAD) certified broadly comparable scheme
will be removed.

6

DLUHC are currently considering the responses received, with a
consultation response expected in due course. Officers will continue
to monitor the position.

DLUHC consultation – LGPS: Changes to the Local Valuation Cycle and
the Management of Employer Risk
7

In May 2019 DLUHC consulted on a number of changes to the LGPS,
encompassing the following areas:
 amendments to the local fund valuations from the current 3-year
(triennial) to a 4-year (quadrennial) cycle
 a number of measures aimed at mitigating the risks of moving
from a triennial to a quadrennial cycle
 proposals for flexibility on exit payments
 proposals for further policy changes to exit credits
 proposals for changes to the employers required to offer local
government pension scheme membership

Page 52

8

On 27 February DLUHC published a partial response to the
consultation, covering proposals on exit credits only. DLUHC
confirmed their intention to amend the Regulations providing greater
discretion to Administering Authorities over the amount of any exit
credit. The Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment)
Regulations 2020 were subsequently laid before parliament, coming
into force on 20 March 2020 with backdated effect to 18 May 2018.
The Fund has published its policy in relation to Exit Credits, which will
be reviewed in light of a recent High Court judgement that provided
further direction to LGPS Funds.

9

DLUHC has also published a partial response in respect of employer
contributions and flexibility on exit payments. Officers will work with
the Fund’s Actuary to expand the Fund’s existing employer ‘Exits’
policy after appropriate consultation with Scheme Employers.
Committee will be consulted before any update to the policy is
adopted.

Ongoing Consultation – Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP)
10

In February 2017 the Treasury consulted on options for how the
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) element of pensions paid to
those members who will reach state pension age on or after 6th
December 2018 should be indexed.

11

In January 2018 the Treasury published its response to this
consultation, acknowledging that it is a complex area with more time
required to identify a long-term solution. As a result, the existing
interim solution was extended, covering those members of public
service schemes reaching state pension age between 6th April 2016
and 5th December 2018 to those that reach state pension age on or
before 5th April 2021.

12

On 23 March 2021 Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT) discounted
conversion (of GMP into main scheme benefits) as their long-term
policy solution and instead will make full GMP indexation the
permanent solution for public service pension schemes. Currently
members covered by the interim solution have their GMP pensions
fully uprated by their scheme in line with CPI. The new policy will
extend this to members whose State Pension Age (SPA) is on or
after 6 April 2021.

13

The Fund’s Actuary will provide further detail to the Committee and
Scheme Employers at the Fund’s Annual Meeting in November. In
particular, the Actuary will outline the Funding implications of HMT’s
decision.

Page 53

LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB)
SAB Review – Academies
In 2017 SAB instigated a review of the participation of existing
academies and commissioned Price Waterhouse Coopers to
investigate issues of academy participation in the LGPS and prepare
a report for the Board. The report made no recommendations but set
out three broad types of approach or mechanisms to try and resolve
these issues. These are:

14

15

•

non-regulatory measures within the LGPS

•

regulatory measures within the scheme, and

•

measures outside of the LGPS, including through primary legislation.
The SAB review had been split between a funding working group and
an administration working group. Work on the administration working
group was put on hold due to competing work pressures and the
project is no longer part of SAB’s current projects. Officers will
continue to monitor the position and update Committee if work on the
project is revived.

SAB Review – Tier 3 Employers
16

In addition to the review of Academy participation, above, SAB also
commissioned work in respect of ‘Tier 3’ employers participating in
the LGPS. Broadly, Tier 3 employers are those employers which:
(i)

have no tax raising powers,

(ii)

are not backed by an employer with tax raising powers;

(iii)

are not an academy.

17

SAB had established a small working group to review concerns
expressed by Tier 3 employers and the ways in which they may be
resolved. The working group had been tasked with reporting back to
the SAB with a set of recommendations for further consideration.

18

The project is no longer part of SAB’s current projects. Officers will
continue to monitor the position and update Committee if work on the
project is revived.

Page 54

SAB Review – Good Governance in the LGPS
19

20

SAB is currently examining the effectiveness of current LGPS
governance models with a focus on standards, consistency,
representation, conflict management, clarity of roles and cost. The
Board will consider a detailed paper in May 2020 which will likely
result in new statutory guidance on Governance Compliance, with
consideration in particular likely to be given to:
(a)

changes to the scheme’s regulatory provisions on Governance
Compliance Statements,

(b)

revised statutory guidance on Governance Compliance
Statements,

(c)

independent assessment of Governance Compliance Statements,
and;

(d)

establishing a set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

SAB have recently completed their report on Good Governance and
submitted an Action Plan to DLUHC to take the recommendations of
the project forward. A more detailed update to Committee, and
overview of the recommendations proposed to DLUHC will be
provided in due course.

SAB Review – Responsible Investment Guidance
21

In November 2019, SAB drafted guidance for Responsible
Investment in the LGPS, to clarify the parameters within which
investment decisions can be made with regard to the integration of
ESG factors. Following feedback, SAB has decided to take stock until
more is known about the government’s position on the proposed
climate change provisions in the Pension Schemes Bill and the
implications of the Supreme Court’s judgement involving the
Palestine Solidarity Campaign. Committee will be updated as the
matter progresses.

22

Notwithstanding this decision, SAB have progressed with further work
in respect of Responsible Investment (RI), including the production of
an RI A-Z Guide. It is intended that the A-Z Guide will provide LGPS
stakeholders a “one stop shop for information, links and case studies
in this fast growing and complex arena”. The guide will evolve over
time, as new entries are added. The A-Z Guide can be found online
at the following link https://ri.lgpsboard.org/items.

23

The Board has also established an RI Advisory Group (RIAG). The
main role of the group will be to advise SAB on all matters relating to

Page 55

RI. It will also be responsible for assisting the Board in maintaining
the online A-Z Guide. The Group will also assist SAB in developing
recommendations to DLUHC on how TCFD reporting should be
applied to the LGPS.
Cost Control Mechanism/McCloud
24

The Committee has been informed previously of the Cost Control
Mechanism in the LGPS and other public sector schemes which sets
both a cost ‘ceiling’ and ‘floor’ in respect of the ongoing affordability of
public sector pensions. This creates a “cost corridor” designed to
keep schemes within 2% of target costs.

25

Members were informed previously that it had not been possible to
assess the value of the public service pensions arrangements with
any certainty due to the anticipated implications of the Court of
Appeal judgements in McCloud and Sargeant.

26

The Fund’s position on McCloud has been discussed previously, with
the Actuary outlining in detail how the issue was to be reflected in the
2019. The approach taken added an additional 0.9% to the employer
contribution rate for all employers at the 2019 valuation.

27

Before the impact of McCloud, provisional cost management
assessments indicated floor breaches in most schemes, that may
have resulted in an improvement to benefits or reduction in member
contributions. At the request of HMT, GAD carried out a review of the
Cost Control Mechanism across the public sector.

28

Following GAD’s review, HMT are consulting on reforms to the cost
control mechanism intended to “establish a fairer balance of risks
between taxpayers and scheme members, and create a more stable
mechanism”. The proposed reforms would operate only in the
reformed public sector schemes, would widen the existing cost
corridor from 2% to 3%, and would introduce an “economic check”
where there is a cost breach to ensure that broader economic
conditions are considered.

29

Additionally, there are proposed changes to the discount rate used to
determine contribution rates in the unfunded public sector schemes.
This discount rate, however, is used in the production of actuarial
factors in the LGPS. The Committee will continue to be updated on
the position regards the Cost Control Mechanism in the LGPS once
HMT has completed its analysis of responses received to its
consultation.

Page 56

Non- LGPS Specific Matters
Public Sector Exit Payments Caps
30

The Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015
introduced the concept of a ‘public sector exit payments cap’. The
legislation provides that exit payments to be paid to a person are not
to exceed £95,000. The 2015 Act provided the overarching principles
of how the exit cap was to operate, but the detail was to be
prescribed in regulations that were expected to soon follow.

31

After a period of delay the Treasury launched a new consultation on
this matter in April 2019. Included in the consultation were draft
regulations called ‘The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payment
Regulations 2019’ which provided detail on how the exit cap should
operate from an employer’s perspective.

32

Under the Regulations, the cap was to remain at £95,000 and
include:
 redundancy payment(s);
 any payment to offset an actuarial reduction to a pension arising
by virtue of early retirement (know as ‘strain on the fund’ or ‘early
release’ cost);
 any payment made pursuant to an award of compensation under
the ACAS arbitration scheme or a settlement or conciliation
agreement;
 any severance payment or ex gratia payment;
 any payment in the form of shares or share options;
 any payment on voluntary exit;
 any payment in lieu of notice due under a contract of employment;
 any payment made to extinguish any liability under a fixed term
contract;
 any other payment made, whether under a contract of
employment or otherwise, in consequence of termination of
employment of loss of office.

33

Most significantly for the LGPS, was the inclusion of the ‘strain on the
fund’ costs are included towards the cap. These costs of allowing
unreduced access to pension benefits for members over 55 can

Page 57

exceed £95,000 for scheme members with long periods of
membership.
34

Separately to the Exit Payment Regulations, DLUHC consulted on
further reforms to the LGPS Regulations that would accommodate
the Exit Cap within the Scheme. As DLUHC’s proposed changes
were not implemented concurrently with the Exit Payment
Regulations, there was legal uncertainty for both LGPS Administering
Authorities and participating employers due to the conflicting
legislation.

35

On 12 February however the Exit Cap was unexpectedly disapplied,
after the Treasury issued the ‘Exit Payment Cap Directions 2021’.
The Treasury will bring forward at pace revised proposals in respect
of public sector exits. The Committee will be updated as further
details emerge.

Mandatory TCFD Reporting
36

Using powers granted under the Pension Schemes Bill, the
Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) has consulted on draft
regulations requiring occupational pension schemes to meet climate
governance requirements, publish a Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) report and include a link to the report in
their annual report and accounts.

37

Whilst the regulations will not apply to the LGPS it is expected that
DLUHC will bring forward similar proposals requiring TCFD
disclosures in the LGPS. At the time of writing, consultation on such
requirements in the LGPS is expected in September.

38

The Fund’s pooling partner, Border to Coast Pensions Partnership
(BCPP) are supporters of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and have just published their second
TCFD report aligned with the recommendations. This covers the
approach to climate change across the four thematic areas of
Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics and Targets.
The report demonstrates the improvements and developments made
across the four key areas. The report can be found online at the
following link https://www.bordertocoast.org.uk/sustainability/.

39

BCPP will support Partner Funds ahead of any mandatory reporting
requirements through the Officers Operation Group RI workshops,
delivering training, and by providing reporting. BCPP have held
discussions to understand all Partner Funds’ requirements on carbon
reporting on assets, including those that are currently not held in the
pool.

Page 58

40

A BCPP procurement for carbon data, including forward-looking
metrics (scenario analysis), taking place this year will take into
account the reporting requirements of Partner Funds for equity and
fixed income portfolios. Obtaining carbon data for Private Markets is
more challenging and BCPP are looking into solutions for these
portfolios held in the pool.

41

An overview of TCFD was included in training for members of the
Committee in December. A more detailed report, and further training
will be provided to the Committee on the details of DLUHC’s
anticipated consultation on TCFD, and the availability of data through
BCPP.

UK Stewardship Code 2020
42

The UK Stewardship Code aims to enhance the quality of
engagement between investors and companies to help improve longterm risk-adjusted returns to shareholders. The Fund has previously
signed up the Code, and BCPP also publish a UK Stewardship Code
compliance statement.

43

Due to the significant changes in the Investment Market since the
introduction of the first Code, The UK Stewardship Code 2020 is now
being introduced. This new Code expands on the previous
requirements and compromises a set of 12 Principles which require
reporting and disclosure on an ‘apply and explain’ basis.

44

The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) 2016 Regulations
state that the responsibility for stewardship, which includes
shareholder voting, remains with the Partner Funds. Stewardship,
day-to-day administration and implementation have been delegated
to Border to Coast by the Partner Funds, on assets managed by
Border to Coast, with appropriate monitoring and challenge to ensure
this continues to be in line with Partner Fund requirements. To
leverage scale and for operational purposes, Border to Coast has, in
conjunction with Partner Funds, developed a Responsible Investment
Policy and accompanying Corporate Governance & Voting Guidelines
to ensure clarity of approach on behalf of Partner Funds.

45

Officers are currently working with peers at BCPP Partner Funds to
consider the new Code and will work together, and in conjunction with
BCPP, to ensure compliance. A more detailed report will be provided
to the Committee in due course.

Consultation on Minimum Pension Age
46

A consultation entitled ‘Increasing the normal minimum pension age:
consultation on implementation’ was launched on 11th February and
Page 59

runs until 22nd April 2021. The consultation proposes that, due to
increases in longevity and changing expectations of how long
individuals will remain in work and in retirement, the minimum
pension age would increase from 55 to 57 in 2028. When the policy
was first announced, it was intended that the NMPA would be 10
years earlier that the State Pension Age. The minimum age a scheme
member can currently retire voluntarily in the LGPS is 55.

TPR Code of Practice
47

The Pensions Regulator (TPR) has consulted on a single Code of
Practice to cover all regulated schemes. Presently, the Regulator has
a specific Code for Public Service Pensions. Whilst the new Code
does not extend TPR’s powers in the LGPS beyond its existing remit
on governance and administration, there are some concerns over
how the provisions of the Code fit with the LGPS. SAB have
responded on behalf of the LGPS. Compliance with the Code will
continue to be reported to the Local Pension Board.

Boycotts, Divestment and Sanctions Bill
48

The government’s legislative programme was laid out in May. The
programme includes a Boycotts, Divestment and Sanctions Bill the
purpose of which will be to stop public bodies from taking a different
approach to UK Government sanctions and foreign relations and will
cover purchasing, procurement, and investment decisions. Members
will be kept up to date, as the matter progresses.

Author(s)
Paul Cooper

Page 60

Tel: 03000 269798

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 12

Document is Restricted

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 13

Document is Restricted

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 14

Document is Restricted

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 15

Document is Restricted

Page 111

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 16

Document is Restricted

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 163

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 17

Document is Restricted

Page 167

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 18

Document is Restricted

Page 185

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 191

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 19

Document is Restricted

Page 201

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 205

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 20

Document is Restricted

Page 207

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 217

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 21

Document is Restricted

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

